HISTORY OF THE RESOURCE:

RANSOM TAVERN

Prepared by Heath J. Szymczak*

*Detail from Sophia Ransom’s 1812 needlepoint sampler (age 14). Sophia was born in 1798 in the area that would
later become Buffalo. Her birth was the first recorded birth of a child to a pioneer settler in Western New York.

A. SUMMARY OF HISTORIC SIGNIFICANCE -- (*“Criterion A”)

1. Introduction

Built in 1799, Ransom Tavern was the first home in the oldest town in what would later
become Erie County.? At the time it was built, it was the largest non-military structure in Western
New York. Given its central location between Buffalo and Batavia on the primary travel route of
the time, Ransom Tavern was an oasis in the wilderness for numerous pioneer travelers. It was
not only used as a tavern, but also as the first office of the Holland Land Company, a town hall, a
post office, and was later used as a meeting hall for a Masonic lodge. It has direct ties to several
significant national and local historic personages and events. It was the only home specifically
identified by name on Joseph Ellicott’s famous 1804 “Morris Purchase Map”. It was also
specifically referenced in the 1810 New York State Law that created Buffalo. The appearance of
Ransom Tavern on the Western New York frontier was the direct result of a series of events that
were set in motion by the Revolutionary War.® This is where its story begins.

! Heath J. Szymczak is a member of the Town of Clarence Historic Preservation Commission and a Trustee of the
Buffalo Niagara Heritage Village.

2 The Town of Clarence, the oldest town in Erie County, was formed nine years later in 1808 (then part of Niagara
County). Erie County was formed in 1821. Ransom Tavern is located at 10897 Main Street, Clarence, New York,
Erie County.

3 “Western New York” as used herein refers to “Genesee Country” of “West Geneseo”, the lands of New York State
to the west of the Genesee River as delineated by the eastern “Transit Meridian Line” on the Morris Purchase Map.



2. Context for the Appearance of Ransom Tavern in Western New York (1775-1798)

During the Revolutionary War, four of the Six Nations of the Iroquois Confederacy had
sided with British.* This included the Seneca Nation, which was the largest of the Six Nations and
were the predominant people residing in Western New York. From 1777 to 1778, the Seneca,
Cayuga, Mohawk, and Onondaga, along with British forces, engaged in brutal raids of colonial
settlements throughout New York and Pennsylvania with the aim of destroying the farms that were
feeding the Continental Army.

In response, the United States Congress and General George Washington sent a force
(known as the “Clinton-Sullivan Expedition™) to stop the raids and weaken the nations of the
Iroquois Confederacy that had sided with the British. The Clinton-Sullivan Expedition destroyed
40 villages (including their winter food stores) of the Seneca and other Haudenosaunee. Many of
the Haudenosaunee took refuge outside of Fort Niagara as it was controlled by the British, but they
did not receive adequate support.®

Although the Revolutionary War ended in 1783, the British nevertheless remained in
control of Western New York for another 13 years due to their continued occupation of Fort
Niagara, which was strategically located at the northwestern corner of Western New York at the
mouth of the Niagara River on Lake Ontario. It was not until August 10, 1796, after the signing
of the Jay Treaty, that American forces gained control of Fort Niagara. Because of the strong
British presence in Western New York, coupled with the inability to purchase land, there was very
little pioneer settlement in Western New York prior to 1796.

Asa Ransom and his family arrived in Western New York in the fall of 1796 and settled at
the mouth of Buffalo Creek near Lake Erie.® The Ransoms were no doubt encouraged by the
withdrawal of the British from Fort Niagara and enticed by the prospect of low-cost land to
purchase. Asa worked as a silversmith and traded silver trinkets with the Haudenosaunee and
other settlers. The settlement, simply referred to as “Buffalo Creek”, was not much more than a
trading outpost with only about six houses and a population of only around twenty settlers.

Buffalo Creek increased its population by one on February 27, 1798, with the birth of
Sophia Ransom. Sophia’s birth was the first recorded of a child to a settler in what would later
become Erie County. Later that year, Asa’s half-brother Timothy S. Hopkins (then just 22) was

4 Long before the Revolutionary War, around 1142, the Iroquois Confederacy was founded upon The Great Law of
Peace, the constitution that established a democracy between five Iroquois-speaking nations—the Seneca, Cayuga,
Oneida, Onondaga, and Mohawk. A sixth nation, the Tuscarora, was added in 1722. The Iroquois Confederacy, also
known as the Six Nations, is the oldest extant participatory democracy on earth. The people of the Six Nations refer
to themselves as the Haudenosaunee or “the people of the longhouse”.

> Thousands of Seneca died from starvation, exposure, and disease.

& Asa Ransom was born on December 2, 1765 in Colchester, Connecticut. He was the 4th and 5th great grandson
respectively, of John Howland and John Tilley, who arrived in America on the Mayflower in 1620. On October 12,
1794, Asa Ransom married Keziah Keyes in Sheffield, Massachusetts. In 1795, they then moved west and settled near
what is now Geneva, New York. Their first child, Portia, was born there on December 20, 1795. The following fall
they moved west to Buffalo Creek.



the first of many of his family to follow him to Western New Y ork, finding his way on foot through
the wilderness to Asa’s small log cabin at Buffalo Creek.’

The withdrawal of the British in 1796 also made Robert Morris eager to take action to clear
title to his land holdings in Western New York. Morris was a signatory of the Declaration of
Independence and the United States Constitution, as well as a major financier of the American
Revolution. At the time, he was the richest man in America. On March 12, 1791, Massachusetts
agreed to sell its rights to this region (but without clear title) to Morris.2 In 1792 and 1793, Morris
conditionally sold the great bulk of his land holdings (3.3 million acres) to the Holland Land
Company, which was formed in 1789 by Dutch firms interested in financial opportunities in the
young nation. Before the Holland Land Company would pay Morris, however, it required that he
secure clear title to the lands from the Seneca.

With both Morris and the Holland Land Company facing mounting financial pressures,
Morris applied to President George Washington in 1797 to appoint a commissioner to preside at a
treaty conference with the Senecas to obtain title to their western lands. Over one thousand Senecas
attended the conference held at Geneseo, New York, led by such notable Seneca chiefs as Red
Jacket, Farmer's Brother, and Cornplanter. Joseph Ellicott, who had just been appointed as Chief
of Survey by the Holland Land Company a month earlier, was among the individuals present
representing the Holland Land Company. On September 15, 1797, fifty-two Seneca leaders signed
the Treaty of Big Tree clearing title to the lands in Western New York and reserving for themselves
approximately 200,000 acres. With the signing of the Treaty of Big Tree, Morris officially
transferred to the Holland Land Company what had been conditionally agreed to in 1792 and 1793.

A major obstacle, however, prevented the Holland Land Company in profiting from its
land holdings: foreigners were not legally permitted to hold lands in New York State. It tried to
try get around this problem by using American trustees to hold the funds, but this proved to be
impractical. On April 2, 1798, Aaron Burr, as a member of the New York Assembly (and who
just happened to have a financial interest in the Holland Land Company), secured passage of a bill
that permitted the Dutch to take title to land in New York on a conditional basis. Though not a
complete solution, it paved the way forward for the Holland Land Company.

7 Asa’s father, Elias Ransom, Sr., passed away in 1773 when Asa was only eight years old. His mother Sarah remarried
in 1774 to Ichabod Hopkins. Timothy Hopkins was born in 1776 when Asa was 11 years old. In just a few years,
Asa’s world was turned upside-down (both with his family and with the onset of the Revolutionary War). Asa and
Timothy were very close, and both would have a profound impact upon Western New York. Asa’s mother and several
other siblings would also follow him to Western New York in the years that followed. Indeed, the Ransoms and the
Hopkins constituted a large proportion of the early populace of Western New York.

8 When the Revolutionary War ended, the State of New York and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts each insisted
that it had rights to the land in Western New York. This dispute was compromised by the Hartford Treaty of 1786.
New York acknowledged the right of Massachusetts to have a right of first purchase from the Haudenosaunee and, in
return, Massachusetts recognized the political sovereignty of New York over the region. In 1787, Massachusetts sold
all of its rights to the land in New York east and west of the Genesee River (6 million acres) to two land speculators
named Oliver Phelps and Nathaniel Gorham (known as the "Phelps and Gorham Purchase™). However, due to
financial problems, and the inability to clear title, Phelps and Gorham lost their rights of ownership in the region of
Western New York, which reverted to Massachusetts. This opened the door for Robert Morris to step in.



3. First Period of Significance (1799-1837) — Tavern & Holland Land Company Office

In early 1799, Asa Ransom was the first settler to take advantage of the Holland Land
Company’s offer of the sale of lots to "any proper man who would build and operate a tavern upon
it." These lots were 10 miles apart and were sold at the company's lowest price of $2 per acre on
a long-term, no interest, basis. Starting in the spring of 1799 (with his younger brother Timothy
helping him), Asa began to clear a plot of land located about 17 miles to the northeast of Buffalo
Creek (Township 12, Range 6, Lot 13), building a large two-story log tavern on a square lot of 150
acres located in a natural geological “bowl” with a creek running through it in what would later be
known as “Clarence Hollow”. Asa also enlisted the assistance of the local Seneca to help him as
he had developed friendly relations with them. They referred to him as “O-wis-ta-no-at-squo-
nich” (or the “maker of silver”). Many members of the Seneca Nation who had taken refuge near
Fort Niagara during the Revolutionary War had settled in the area of the Tonawanda Village on
Tonawanda Creek (later the “Tonawanda Reservation”), located just to the northeast of Ransom
Tavern.

* Ransom Tavern.

On September 1, 1799, the Ransoms moved into the Tavern. It was just in time as Keziah
was eight months pregnant with their son Harry, who would be born just two months later on
November 5, 1799. Harry was the first recorded birth of a child to a settler in what would become
Clarence. The “settlement”, which at first only consisted of Ransom Tavern, was known variously
as “Pine Grove”, “Sweet Water Farm”, “Ransom’s Grove”, “Ransomville”, “Ransom's Mills”, or
just “Ransom’s” (the name used changed frequently in correspondence).® At the time, the location

9 Within the next few years, Asa constructed both a sawmill (1801) and a gristmill (1803), which greatly facilitated
both commerce and the expansion of settlement in the area. In 1801, Timothy was the first person on the Holland
Land Purchase to raise wheat.



was a frontier wilderness, and “Main Street” was little more than an old Haudenosaunee trail. The
woods were dense and filed with wolves. Tensions with the British also remained high. While the
British had crossed the Niagara River into Canada just three years earlier, they were never far from
striking distance as they were still just across the Niagara River at both Fort Erie and Fort George.

In January of 1801, Joseph Ellicott moved into Ransom Tavern and opened the first office
of the Holland Land Company there. Ellicott chose Ransom Tavern as it was the first non-military
structure of any substantial size in the region, was centrally located between Buffalo and Batavia,
and was situated on the primary route used by settlers heading to Buffalo and beyond from eastern
New York and New England. The route was known as the “Great Genesee Road” and extended
from Fort Schuyler in Utica to Buffalo.!® The portion of the road that ran from Batavia to Buffalo
was referred to as the “Buffalo Road” (now “Main Street” or “Route 5”). Many of Ellicott’s letters
were addressed to and from Ransom Tavern.

*Sample envelope addressed to Joseph Ellicott at Ransom Tavern.

Ransom Tavern was also located just east of Ellicott’s “Transit Meridian Line” (or just the
“Transit Line”), which was a north-south survey line (from Pennsylvania to Lake Ontario) which
Ellicott had laid out in 1798 to mark the eastern boundary of the Holland Land Company Purchase.
The portion of the Transit Line near Ransom Tavern (now “Transit Road”) is where the surveying
of the Holland Land Company began. Ellicott hired a crew of surveyors, axe men, and chainmen
to create a 50 to 66 feet wide path through the thick forest. In the spring of 1799, the Transit Line
was completed.'! All surveys were completed by 1800 and land sales began at Ransom Tavern in

10 On March 22, 1794, the New York State Legislature passed a law calling for the laying out and improvement of a
public road from old Fort Schuyler on the Mohawk River to Caledonia just passed the Genesee River. This was the
first state road in New York State. In 1798, the New York State Legislature passed a law calling for the extension and
substantial improvement of the “Great Genesee Road” from Caledonia to Buffalo, passing in front of Ransom Tavern.

11 Once cleared, the Transit Line was used by early settlers as a means of travel and as a clear visual landmark by
which to find their lot purchases.



1801, with the execution of the first formal articles of agreement of many early settlers taking
place in Ransom Tavern. Among the very first sales were made to, of course, Asa (first agreement,
dated September 1799), as well as Asa’s half-brothers Orlando Hopkins (third agreement, dated
March 1801) and Timothy Hopkins (sixth agreement, dated October 1801).2> Timothy and
Orlando were some of Asa’s first neighbors.

*Map showing the location of Ransom Tavern relative to New Amsterdam (Buffalo),
Batavia, Fort Niagara, and the Transit Line.

Aaron Burr, who had land holdings in the northern part of Western New York on Lake
Ontario (then part of “Ontario County”), continued his involvement with the Holland Land
Company and regularly corresponded with its leadership. Burr had travelled to Western New York
in 1798 to inspect his land holdings (and visited Niagara Falls during that trip). The relationship
between Burr and the Holland Land Company led to Burr’s daughter, Theodosia, visiting Ransom
Tavern on July 27, 1801 to meet Ellicott on route to her own honeymoon trip to Niagara Falls with
her husband Joseph Alston (the first recorded honeymoon at Niagara Falls).** Asa Ransom Jr. had
just been born a month earlier, on June 18, 1801. One can imagine young Theodosia (just 18 years
old) lavishing attention upon the newborn baby, especially since they almost shared the same
birthday (Theodosia’s birthday was June 21st). At that time, her father was serving as Vice-
President under President Thomas Jefferson.

12 As mentioned, Asa’s half-brother Timothy (born 1776) came to Buffalo Creek in 1798 and then to Clarence in 1799.
Other half-brothers followed soon-thereafter: Orlando Hopkins (born 1778) came to Clarence Around 1800; Otis R.
Hopkins (middle name “Ransom”, born 1780) came to Clarence around 1806; and Cyrus Hopkins (born 1782) came
to Clarence around 1803.

13 Joseph Alston would become the Governor of South Carolina during the War of 1812. Sadly, Theodosia was lost
at sea in 1813 on route to celebrate the new year with her father. She left upon the schooner Patriot on December 31,
1812 and was never seen again. It is presumed the ship went down on January 1st or 2nd of 1813 (although there
were several alternative theories about her disappearance that captivated the nation at the time).



In December of 1801, Asa was appointed as the Justice of the Peace for the region that
would later become Erie County by New York State Governor George Clinton (a brigadier general
in the Continental Army during the Revolutionary War). Asa was the first individual to ever serve
in the capacity of a government official in the region. Governor Clinton tasked his nephew and
personal secretary, DeWitt Clinton, with delivering the appointment papers to Asa at his Tavern.'4

Genesee County was established in 1802 (carved out of “Ontario County”). The Town of
Batavia was also founded as the single, original town of Genesee County.!® At the first town
meeting of the Town of Batavia, Asa was elected assessor and Timothy and Orlando were both
elected as overseers of highways. Joseph Ellicott moved the operations of the Holland Land Office
to Batavia that year. The Town of Willink was carved out of the Town of Batavia in 1804 and
comprised the entirety of the western portion of Genesee County.'® That year Ellicott also laid out
the street plan for the village “New Amsterdam” (Buffalo) and completed his “Morris Purchase
Map” depicting all of Western New York.'” Ransom Tavern was the only home specifically
identified by name on Ellicott’s Morris Purchase Map.

*Detail of Ellicott’s Morris Purchase Map showing Ransom Tavern.

14 DeWitt would become Governor of New York himself sixteen years later in 1817 and was the driving force behind
creation of the Erie Canal, which radically transformed Western New York. His father was Major General James
Clinton of the infamous Clinton-Sullivan Expedition.

15 In the ensuing forty years after Genesee County was formed in 1802, it was repeatedly split to form all or parts of
the counties of Allegany (1806), Niagara (1808), Cattaraugus (1808), Chautauqua (1808), Erie (1821), Monroe (1821),
Livingston (1821), Orleans (1824), and Wyoming (1841).

16 The Town of Willink was named after Willem Willink, one of the original investors of the Holland Land Company
and a financier of the Revolutionary War (there are several permutations of the spelling of his first name). He was
also involved in the Louisiana Purchase in 1803. His name appears most frequently as the first entry on title searches
for properties in Western New York.

17 Ellicott’s superior, Paul Busti, was so impressed with the map that he wrote to him saying that it “will one day be a
precious monument.”



In 1804, Timothy married Nancy Ann Kerr, which was the first recorded marriage in what
would become Erie County. In 1806, Asa was appointed postmaster and used Ransom Tavern as
the post office. Although not a formal store, he also sold various goods there. In the Spring of
1807, the first town meeting within the limits of the present Town of Clarence was held at Ransom
Tavern during which Asa was elected supervisor of the Town of Willink. On February 8, 1808, a
special meeting of Willink was held at Ransom Tavern during which resolutions were adopted
protesting against the division and reclassification being proposed and insisting upon retaining
Willink’s then configuration.

On March 6, 1808, Asa was appointed as the first sheriff of Niagara County (which then
included what is now Erie County) by New York State Governor Daniel D. Tompkins upon the
recommendation of Joseph Ellicott (who personally delivered the papers of appointment to him at
Ransom Tavern).'® At the time, Asa was a lieutenant colonel in the militia, but had to give up this
post when he was appointed sheriff. At Asa’s urging, Timothy was given his former position of
lieutenant colonel in the militia.

A few days later, on March 11, 1808, the Town of Clarence was officially formed by the
New York State Legislature as part of newly formed Niagara County (carved out of Genesee
County in 1808). Clarence was carved out of Willink, forming the northern part of the yet to be
created Erie County and leaving the remainder of Willink to the south. Clarence was
geographically massive, consisting of present-day northern Erie County (including the City of
Buffalo and the towns of Amherst, Alden, Lancaster and Newstead). Clarence (in the north) and
Willink (in the south) then comprised the entire area of what would later become Erie County in
1821.1°

On April 2, 1808, the first meeting of the Town of Clarence was held at the tavern of Elias
Ransom (Asa’s older brother by three years).?® At that meeting, Asa’s half-brothers were elected
to the following positions: Timothy was elected assessor and Otis was elected as constable and
collector. Ironically, the “founder of Clarence” was not actually happy about the creation of the
Town of Clarence, a division to which he had objected a month earlier. This probably explains
why the first meeting of the Town of Clarence was held at Elias’s tavern rather than his own (which
seems very odd). Although Asa served as supervisor of the Town of Willink, he never served as

18 This may have been something of a “peace offering” by Ellicott to appease his friend over their dispute about the
proposed division of the Town of Willink. Asa would go on to serve 8 terms as sheriff.

% The remaining portion of Willink was renamed to Aurora in 1818. The Village of Willink continued to exist and
incorporated in 1849 but was eventually renamed to East Aurora. By 1874, all that was left of the once gigantic Town
of Willink was a post office at the west end of the new village of East Aurora. Then, in 1913, it was consolidated with
the East Aurora Post Office and the last remnant of Willink was gone.

20 Elias Ransom, Jr., a veteran of the Revolutionary War, followed Asa and his half-brothers to Western New York
between 1802 and 1805. He also built a tavern of his own farther to the west on the Buffalo Road. Just two years
later, the first meeting of the Town of Buffalo would also be held at Elais’s tavern.



supervisor of the Town of Clerence.?

On January 30, 1810, the Town of Buffalo was formed and carved out of the Town of
Clarence by act of the New York State Legislature, which specifically referenced Ransom Tavern
in the text of the law.?? The first meeting of the Town of Buffalo was held shortly thereafter, once
again at Elias’s tavern. A couple of years later, however, the tensions with the British would boil
over with the War of 1812, bringing Buffalo’s progress to an abrupt and disastrous halt.

*1810 law creating Buffalo and referencing Ransom Tavern.

During the War of 1812, Asa served as a captain of a company of mounted volunteers. His
half-brother Timothy, however, was promoted to the position of Brigadier-General of the militia
and was given complete command of the militia on December 20, 1813, just days before the
destruction of Buffalo. General George McClure took the regulars (and the ammunition) and fled
Buffalo, leaving the region practically defenseless. In a very moving letter to Governor Tomkins,
dated December 20, 1813, Timothy lamented the actions of General George McClure, his
abandonment of Buffalo, and his fear that “nothing will save any part of the frontier but a
respectable force.” He ended the letter with, “I feel it a duty which I owe my country and this
frontier to make the foregoing statement and earnestly solicit Your Excellency’s interposition for
our safety.” Unfortunately, that “interposition” would not come.

2L Asa’s half-brother Otis, however, did serve as supervisor of the Town of Clarence for 9 terms, starting in 1817.

22 The act to incorporate the City of Buffalo was passed 22 years later by the New York State Legislature on April 20,
1832.



Buffalo was burned by the British 10 days later following the Battle of Black Rock on
December 30, 1813. It was destroyed by the British in retaliation for the General McClure’s
burning of the Town of Newark (now Niagara-on-the-Lake) in Canada on December 10, 1813.2%
The British captured Fort Niagara from the Americans a mere 9 days later on December 19, 1813,
and launched its attack on Western New York 11 days later, burning Fort Schlosser and the villages
of Youngstown, Lewiston, Manchester (later Niagara Falls), and Black Rock on their march south
before burning Buffalo. Asa and Timothy were both present at the Battle of Black Rock and were
witnesses to the burning of Buffalo.

Asa must have been extremely anxious for the safety of his little brother Timothy, and also
deeply saddened by the sight of Buffalo (and his original small cabin) going up in flames. At the
same time, he must have thought back with gratitude on his decision to leave Buffalo and settle in
Clarence. Ransom Tavern provided shelter and comfort to wounded soldiers and citizens as they
fled from the flames, blades, and gunfire of the British and their indigenous allies during those
cold winter days. Those were dark days, filled with sadness for all that had been lost and anxiety
about the future.

*Engraving illustration of the burning of Buffalo from Pictorial History of America,
by Samuel G. Goodrich, published in 1847.

2 The burning of Buffalo and surrounding villages in December of 1813 was the first time in American History that
United States villages and towns had been destroyed by a foreign power (the only other time was the burning of
Washington D.C. eight months later, on August 24, 1814).

10



In early 1814, Asa submitted a scathing affidavit critical of General McClure as part of the
investigation of McClure’s conduct. Asa stated that he personally heard McClure say that he was
taking the regulars and ammunition due to a personal dispute with Colonel Cyrenius Chapin, and
that he heard McClure state as follows: “I will stay and defend you if the inhabitants will arrest
and bind that damned rascal Chapin and bring him to me; if they will not do that they may all be
destroyed and | don’t care how soon.”* McClure would never hold a command again. Fort
Niagara would be returned to the Americans on May 22, 1815, following the signing of the Treaty
of Ghent on Christmas Eve of 1814 (a Christmas that must have brought particular joy and great
relief to the people of Western New York).

After the War, in 1814, Timothy resigned his military commission, and moved his family
from Clarence Hollow to what would later become the Town of Ambherst four years later (formed
in 1818). In 1819, Timothy was elected the first supervisor of the Town of Amherst, of which he
is considered a founder. His son, Timothy A. Hopkins, would go to follow the footsteps of both
his father and his uncle Asa, serving as sheriff, justice of the peace, town supervisor, and running
atavern known as the Eagle Hotel (now the Eagle House Restaurant) to the west of Ransom Tavern
on Main Steet in the Village of Williamsville.

Asa and Keziah had ten children, many of whom went on to live long and prosperous
lives. Asa passed away on March 11, 1835 at the age of 69. Keziah passed away two years later
on June 14, 1837 at the age of 66. Asa and Keziah were industrious, resourceful, and courageous
people—they were the “first family” of Erie County. Ransom Tavern, the oldest and most historic
residential structure in Erie County, is an enduring symbol of their incredible legacy and a
monument to the resilience and fortitude of all early settlers in the region. On September 1, 2024,
Ransom Tavern will be 225 years old.

*Asa Ransom’s signature from letter to Joseph Ellicott.

24 In December 1813, Colonel Cyrenius Chapin, a local war hero, was in Buffalo ready to defend the area from the
British. The militia in Buffalo preferred Chapin’s command over General McClure’s since McClure was blamed for
the burning the Newark (Niagara-on-the-Lake). Due to nothing more than jealousy and rage, McClure had Chapin
arrested on charges of mutiny and treason, writing, “there is not a greater rascal [who] exists than Chapin.” Local
volunteers, who were devoted to Chapin, rescued him. McClure fled soon thereafter. McClure’s conduct cost the
frontier the loss of Buffalo and many surrounding villages, and, most significantly, many lives lost.
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4. Second Period of Significance (1837-1844) — Masonic Lodge

Ransom Tavern gained additional historic significance when it was later used as a meeting
hall for a Masonic lodge (Centre Lodge 356). The members of Centre Lodge 356 first petitioned
to form a lodge at Clarence on January 31, 1814. The group consisted of many veterans of the
Revolutionary War and the War of 1812. Although the Lodge was not formally recognized by the
Grand Lodge until 1823, the group likely started meeting, possibly at Ransom Tavern, as early as
1814,

*Portion of 1814 petition naming Archibald Clarke as First Master of the Lodge.

When Asa Ransom Passed away in 1835, one of the founders of the Lodge, Rhodes
Stranahan purchased a parcel of land at 10897 Main Street just a few months later (another founder
of the Lodge, Archibald Clarke, had also owned the same parcel but he had previously passed
away). When Asa’s wife Keziah died just two years later in 1837, and with all the children grown,
Ransom Tavern sat empty. This is when Stranahan and the other members of Centre Lodge 356
(who had the manpower and resources for such an undertaking) likely purchased it and moved it
just up the street to 10897 Main.? It is significant that Archibald Clarke’s daughter Betsey was
married to Asa Ransom, Jr. as she no doubt influenced the transaction. As 1837 was also the year
of a deep financial crisis in the United States, there may have been some financial pressure to sell
the Tavern as well.

% The exact date of the move is not presently known, but 1837 is the most probable date.

12



*Map showing original (1799) and moved (1837) locations
of Ransom Tavern.

Although it was common for the Masons to meet in taverns in the early 1800s, the purchase
of Ransom Tavern by the Masons in 1837 must have been a topic of some controversy around the
village hearth fires, particularly following the infamous William Morgan scandal of 1826 (just
down the road in Batavia) and the rise of the Anti-Masonic Party in the late 1820s and early
1830s.26 The masons were viewed with deep suspicion and disapproval at this time. The sale of
Ransom Tavern to the Masons was no doubt a divisive event for the community and the Ransom
family as well.?” Due to this controversy, and a desire for privacy, the Masons opted to move the
Tavern out of the heart of the village to a less populated area a short distance away on “East Hill”.
The Masons used Ransom Tavern as a meeting hall for approximately 8 years, until around 1844.

Rhodes Stranahan died in 1844 and is buried in a nearby cemetery on Ransom Road. There
is @ Masonic symbol prominently displayed on his gravestone. After a period involving some
litigation over Stranahan’s estate, Ransom Tavern was purchased by the Rice-Sinclair family in
1850 and they occupied it for the next 94 years. The Rice-Sinclair family was the first family to
live in the Tavern since the Ransom family in 1837. In a newspaper article from 1917, a member
of the Rice-Sinclair family explained that the old two-story log home was not only “older than

% Significantly, President Millard Fillmore of Buffalo originally rose to power on the Anti-Masonic Party ticket, yet
his uncle, Calvin Fillmore, was a member of Clarence’s Center Lodge 356, which met in Ransom’s Tavern.

27 Asa, Jr. and Betsey left Clarence not long thereafter, possibly due in part to this controversy, and purchased large
tracks of land on Grand Island where Asa, Jr. started a successful lumber company.
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Buffalo—built long before the War of 1812”, and that it was used as a tavern, but that it was also
used as a meeting hall by a Masonic lodge.

*Portion of 1917 newspaper article quoting Donald Sinclair.

In 1944, Doris Brace purchased it and the Brace family, including David and Patricia
Brace, cared for it for 64 years until 2008 when it was designated by the Town of Clarence as its
very first historic landmark. Although Ransom Tavern was moved, it has stand-alone significance
as a Masonic lodge, as well as for its architectural value and its association with historic personages
and events. Ransom Tavern is also one of the oldest remaining Masonic lodge meeting halls in
New York State. Its subsequent use as a Masonic lodge only further enhances its already
astonishing historical pedigree.

B. ASSOCIATION WITH HISTORIC PERSONAGES -- (““Criterion B”)

Ransom Tavern is associated with the following historic personages (among others):

e Asa and Keziah Ransom — Asa and Keziah Ransom were among the first settlers in
Western New York. Asa Ransom, the founder of the Town of Clarence, was a justice of
the peace, an officer in the militia during the War of 1812, a silversmith, a tavern keeper,
a sawmill operator, a gristmill operator, a farmer, a town supervisor, a postmaster, an
assessor, and served eight terms as county sheriff.
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e Timothy S. Hopkins — Half-brother of Asa Ransom. He helped build Ransom Tavern
and likely lived in it for some time. He was also one of the first settlers in Erie County.
He served as Brigadier-General of the militia at the Battle of Black Rock during the War
of 1812. He later moved to what would become the Town of Amherst and was elected
as it first supervisor. He is considered a founder of the Town of Amherst.

e Joesph Ellicott - Chief of Survey and agent for the Holland Land Company. He lived
in the Tavern and used it as the first office and headquarters of the Holland Land
Company. The Holland Land Company transformed settlement patterns in Western
New York. Joseph Ellicott is considered the founder of both Buffalo and Batavia, laying
out Batavia in 1801 and Buffalo in 1804. Ellicott was a presidential elector in 1804,
voting for Thomas Jefferson. From March 1806 to June 1807, he was the first judge of
the Genesee County Court. He strongly advocated for the Erie Canal and was among
the Erie Canal Commissioners appointed in 1816 to supervise the canal construction.
He also arranged for the contribution of more than 100,000 acres Holland Land
Company land to the project. He was friends with Archibald Clarke, discussed below,
and worked with him to move the Erie Canal project forward. Ellicottville, New York
is named after him.

e Theodosia Burr Alston - Aaron Burr, perhaps one of the most controversial of the
founding fathers, was instrumental in paving the way for the formation of the Holland
Land Company and personally had land holdings in Western New York (visiting in
1798). He regularly corresponded with the leadership of the Holland Land Company.
He was Vice-President under President Thomas Jefferson during this period. This
relationship led to Aaron Burr’s daughter, Theodosia, visiting Ransom Tavern in July
of 1801 on route to Niagara Falls, which was the first recorded honeymoon there and
sparked a national trend for other newlyweds. Her mysterious disappearance in 1813
captivated the nation. “Dear Theodosia” is a popular song from the Broadway musical,
“Hamilton”.

e DeWitt Clinton - In December of 1801, Asa Ransom was appointed by the Governor
of New York, George Clinton (a founding father a brigadier general in the Continental
Army during the Revolutionary War), as the Justice of the Peace for region of Genesee
Country. Governor George Clinton tasked his nephew and personal secretary, DeWitt
Clinton, with delivering the papers of appointment to Asa Ransom at his Tavern. In
1810, DeWitt was appointed as head of the Erie Canal Commission and passed through
Clarence once again as part of those duties. In 1817, DeWitt became Governor of New
York State himself. DeWitt was the driving force behind the completion of the Erie
Canal (often referred to as “Clinton’s Big Ditch”) which, when completed in 1825,
radically transformed Western New York. His father was Major General James Clinton
of the infamous Clinton-Sullivan Expedition.
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Archibald S. Clarke - Founding member and first Grand Master of Masonic lodge,
Centre Lodge 356. He was an owner of the land at 10897 Main. He served as Niagara
County Surrogate in 1808 and 1809, a member of the State Assembly from 1808 to
1809, in the State Senate from 1813 to 1816, and in the United States House of
Representatives from 1816 to 1817. He was close friends with Joseph Ellicott and played
a political role in the approval and funding of the Erie Canal. His daughter Betsey
married Asa Ransom, Jr. and was instrumental in the acquisition of Ransom Tavern by
Centre Lodge 356 for their Masonic meeting hall.

Rhodes Stranahan - Founding member and First Senior Warden of Masonic lodge,
Centre Lodge 356. He was an owner of the land at 10897 Main from 1835 until his
passing in 1844.

Asa Harris - Founding member of Masonic lodge, Centre Lodge 356. He was a former
colonial officer from the American Revolution. During the siege of the War of 1812 in
Buffalo, his tavern, built in 1807 and located just under five miles to the west of Ransom
Tavern, was used as the temporary office of the county clerk and as the headquarters of
the regional newspaper. The hamlet of “Harris Hill” is named after him.

Calvin Fillmore - Founding member of Masonic lodge, Centre Lodge 356. He was the
uncle of both President Millard Fillmore and the Reverend Glezen Fillmore (conductor
on the Underground Railroad, also of Clarence). Calvin Fillmore served as coroner of
Erie County, New York and a member of the New York State Assembly. His father,
Nathaniel Fillmore Sr., was an officer in the Green Mountain Boys during the
Revolutionary War.

C. ARCHITECTURAL SIGNIFICANCE AND INTEGRITY -- (*“Criterion C”)

Below is an excerpt of Clinton-Brown’s recommendation of 10897 Main for designation
as a local historic landmark in 2007:28

Constructed around 1800, the 2-story, side-gabled building at 10897 Main Street is an
authentic New England Colonial saltbox. It is considered one of three two-story log
homes in Erie County and one of two in Clarence, the other constructed in Pennsylvania
German style. It is the only two-story New England Style log home in Erie County, built
of hewn logs measuring forty-six feet in length. Its exterior architectural features are
characterized by its central entranced, symmetrical facade with regular fenestration,
wood clapboard sheathing over dove-tail log wall construction, and brick chimneys at
gabled ends. It's interior of 3,100sf houses five bedrooms, once used by boarders when
house was run as a tavern. Rooms are characterized by original plank flooring, exposed
timber beams and plaster walls.

28 Clinton Brown Company Architecture, PC is a preeminent historic preservation and architectural firm in Western

New York.
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Below are a few sample images showing the exterior condition and setting of Ransom
Tavern:
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On the interior, Ransom Tavern still looks largely as it did in 1799. It still has exposed
hand-hewn log walls and beams, wide plank floors, colonial hardware, bark-covered pine trusses
with axe carved Roman numerals, peg holes from Ellicott’s bookshelves, and a steep covered
staircase with worn grooves from 224 years of foot traffic.
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Note on Alterations: Although much of Ransom’s Tavern is unchanged, there were a few
alterations of note. First, the chimneys originally ran through the roof just inside the eves (typical
of the Federal or Adams style popular between 1780 and 1820). Due to deterioration, and for
additional space, the twin chimneys were moved to the outside walls in the 1940s. The upstairs
fireplaces were also removed at that time. Second, the home was extended with additions in the
rear sometime after 1850 by the Rice-Sinclair family, including the addition of an extended
“summer kitchen” to the southeast. Two additional chimneys can be seen in that portion of the
home in old photos, but only a remnant of one of those chimneys remains in the large back upper
room (under the angled salt-box roof). Sometime in the 2000s, the Brace family squared off the
back portion of the home of the old extended summer kitchen and added a sitting room and patio
off to the rear of the kitchen. The windows in the front of the house are wooden single-paned glass
dating to approximately the 1910s (12 over 12 wooden window grills were added for aesthetic
effect). Some of the windows in the rear of the home date to approximately the 1860s. There is
also a well (1850s) and a non-historic outbuilding (late 1940s). Lastly, although Ransom Tavern
was moved a relatively short distance down the street, it is still located in Clarence Hollow and
still on the historic “Buffalo Road”.

[END]
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